\$172684

)

)

SUPREME COURT COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SUPREME COURT FILED

DANA BRUNS, Plaintiff and Appellant

MAY 4 - 2009

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

VS.

Deputy

E-COMMERCE EXCHANGE, INC., et al., Defendants and Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

From an Order of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B201952

> Reversing the Judgment of the Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. JCCP 4350 Honorable Carolyn B. Kuhl

DUANE MORRIS LLP
Max H. Stern (SBN 154424)
Jessica E. La Londe (SBN 235744)
One Market, Spear Tower, Suite 2000
San Francisco, CA 94105-1104
Telephone: 415.957.3000
Facsimile: 415.957.3001

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Trial courts routinely use partial stays and other controls on discovery to actively manage cases. Does *any partial* stay necessarily mean that "prosecution . . . of the action [i]s stayed," automatically tolling the running of the five-year mandatory period to bring a case to trial, as the Court of Appeal's majority opinion holds? (*See* California Code of Civil Procedure § 583.340(b).)
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal properly examine whether a trial court abused its discretion in finding it was not "impossible, impracticable, or futile" for plaintiff to bring her case to trial (as would support tolling under the five-year statute) during brief periods when only some pre-trial proceedings were delayed yet other proceedings could have, and did, move forward? (See California Code of Civil Procedure § 583.340(c).)

II. INTRODUCTION AND REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case presents two issues of pressing importance to courts, attorneys, and litigants interested in the management of trial court cases.

The first issue is whether a partial stay constitutes a stay of prosecution automatically tolling the five-year mandatory period for bringing an action to trial. By a vote of 2-1, the Court of Appeal answered

this question affirmatively. The second issue is whether the Court of Appeal's majority opinion is correct in substituting its own judgment for that of the trial court in determining that it was "impossible, impracticable, or futile" for plaintiff to bring her case to trial during certain other time periods.

Periods during which a court actively manages the progress of litigation by entering partial stays or otherwise controlling discovery should not automatically constitute a stay of "prosecution" that always tolls the running of the five-year period to bring a case to trial. Moreover, the Court of Appeal majority should have deferred to the trial court's discretionary decision that plaintiff was capable of and/or did advance her case during periods of claimed tolling. The Court of Appeal's published opinion will have a severely detrimental impact on the judicial administration of cases, especially complex and coordinated cases where control of proceedings is necessary to manage the progress of litigation, and the ruling runs counter to California's public policies in favor of the efficient and speedy resolution of actions.

The California Legislature has set forth a clear "policy of the state that a plaintiff shall proceed with reasonable diligence in the prosecution of an action" (Code Civ. Pro. § 583.130.) In furtherance of this policy, Code of Civil Procedure section 583.310 provides that an action shall be brought to trial within five years after the action is commenced against the

defendant. This five-year period is "mandatory" and is "not subject to extension, excuse, or exception *except as expressly provided by statute.*" (Code Civ. Pro. § 583.360(b), emphasis added.) Section 583.340(b) provides that, in computing these five years, the time during which "prosecution or trial of the action was stayed or enjoined" shall be excluded. That section does not state that a *partial* stay is excluded. Section 583.340(c) provides that, in computing these five years, the time during which it was "impossible, impracticable, or futile" for plaintiff to bring her case to trial also shall be excluded.

Plaintiff filed her purported class action lawsuit on February 22, 2000. During the nearly seven years that plaintiff's case was pending, the trial court entered various orders to actively manage the progress of litigation, including entering partial stays to control the order of discovery. The Honorable Carolyn B. Kuhl of the Los Angeles Superior Court, who personally managed this case for approximately two years, eventually dismissed plaintiff's case pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure sections 583.310 and 583.360. She found that the disputed periods of time did not constitute periods where "prosecution . . . was stayed" because the lawsuit had not been completely stayed during those periods. Relying on her close knowledge of the case, she found that during these periods, plaintiff had a meaningful opportunity to advance her case and that significant litigation activity had in fact occurred. Therefore, it was not "impossible,"

impracticable, or futile" for plaintiff to bring her case to trial during these periods, and these periods did not toll the running of the five years to bring a case to trial.

The Court of Appeal reversed. The majority opinion holds that "a partial stay of an action constitutes a stay of the prosecution of the action within the meaning of section 583.340, subdivision (b)." (Typed opn., p. 2.) The central ruling of the Court of Appeal is a wholly unprecedented determination that a period where a partial stay is in place is a period where "prosecution . . . [i]s stayed" as a matter of law, notwithstanding that the partial stays here were limited in scope, entered in order to manage the litigation, and facilitated the significant and substantial litigation activity that occurred during these periods. The Court of Appeal also held that — based on its own independent review of the record — plaintiff had met her burden of demonstrating that it had been "impossible, impracticable, or futile" to bring her case to trial during two other periods, such that tolling applied to those periods as well.

In his dissenting opinion, Presiding Justice Turner stated that he would have affirmed the lawsuit's dismissal. He pointed to the significant and orderly litigation activities that had occurred during Judge Kuhl's management of the case and concluded that the partial stays did not, as a matter of law, constitute stays of "prosecution."

The Court of Appeal decision is the first in California jurisprudence to hold that a partial stay constitutes a stay of "prosecution" that tolls the five-year statute. Every other decision recognizing a stay of "prosecution" as a matter of law has involved a complete stay of trial court activity. Indeed, the Court of Appeal's opinion here departs with a California Law Revision Commission Comment recognizing that the section 583.340(b) exception for stays of prosecution codified caselaw involving a *complete* stay of trial court activity, not any *partial* stay.

This issue will affect countless cases and courtrooms in the California judicial system. Pursuant to the California Rules of Court, a trial court has the duty to actively manage its cases to advance California's public policy of seeing that litigation is quickly resolved. Entering partial stays – that allow specified litigation activities to occur while holding other in abeyance until the appropriate time – is a fundamental and often-used tool to accomplish these case management and public policy goals.

The Court of Appeal's novel holding that such a critical tool of case management always constitutes a stay of "prosecution" under the five-year statute severely hampers the way in which a trial court can manage its cases. Trial courts will not be able to control the orderly progress of difficult cases without in effect abandoning the public policy mandated by the five-year statute. Litigants will be able to exploit this limitation to their advantage, and cases like *Bruns* will be able to meander along without

diligent prosecution, which is precisely what the five-year rule was enacted to prevent. The inevitable result is an ever more crowded California court system.

At a minimum, the determination of whether "prosecution . . . is stayed" should be left to the trial court's discretion. The trial court should at least be granted deference to determine whether, in light of a partial stay or enjoinment, plaintiff was able to prosecute its case. Deference to discretion better effects public policy goals than the novel rule of law created by the Court of Appeal whereby every time a trial court's order uses the word "stay" — no matter how limited — there is tolling under the five-year statute. Here, Judge Kuhl properly exercised her discretion in holding that plaintiff had the opportunity to advance her case, and that significant litigation activity had occurred during each of those periods where the Court of Appeal found as a matter of law that "prosecution . . . was stayed."

This Court should also grant review of the Court of Appeal decision to state a consistent and sensible rule with regard to how the "impossible, impracticable, or futile" standard of section 583.340(c) is applied and reviewed. Judge Kuhl properly used her discretion in determining that it had not been "impossible, impracticable, or futile" for plaintiff to bring her case to trial during brief periods when only some pre-trial proceedings were delayed yet other proceedings could have, and did, move forward.

The Court of Appeal majority opinion essentially undertook a de novo review of this issue, contrary to precedent calling for an abuse of discretion standard of review. Disregarding the evidence supporting a contrary inference, the Court of Appeal held it was impossible, impracticable, or futile for plaintiff to proceed to trial during these periods. The majority opinion's lack of deference to the trial court's findings threatens to chill trial judges from actively managing and supervising litigation, and, if left undisturbed, it would constitute contrary authority confusing to future trial courts (and appellate courts) analyzing the issue.

This Court should grant review in order to settle these important questions of law bearing on the judicial administration of trial court cases.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Filing of the Case

On February 22, 2000, plaintiff Dana Bruns, on behalf of herself and a putative class of others similarly situated, filed suit against certain defendants for allegedly sending unsolicited fax advertisements in violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C) ("TCPA"). (Typed opn., p. 3.) Subsequently, there were time periods during which plaintiff claims "prosecution . . . was stayed" or it was "impossible, impracticable, or futile" to bring her case to trial; relevant periods are discussed in detail below.

B. The Trial Court's Active Management of the Case

1. March 9, 2000 to May 24, 2000

On March 9, 11, and 24, 2000, plaintiff served demands for inspection of documents, special and form interrogatories, and requests for admissions on certain defendants. (Typed opn., p. 19.) Thereafter, plaintiff filed 10 motions to compel responses to her discovery. (*Ibid.*) Apparently finding most of the discovery and the motions excessive, the trial court ruled that, except for certain identified interrogatories, all previously propounded discovery, if deemed necessary or advisable, would have to be re-served and that all prior discovery motions were vacated. (Typed opn., p. 12.)

During this period, substantial other litigation activity continued to occur, including that plaintiff: served several sets of written discovery on defendants (Appellant's Appendix filed in the Court of Appeal ("AA"), Volume 1, pages 161-208; 4 AA 822, 845-866); amended her complaint to name additional defendants (2 AA 513); filed a first amended complaint (1 RA 1-7); and received responses to discovery (2 AA 296-304; Respondent's Appendix filed in the Court of Appeal ("RA"), Volume 1, pages 140, 163-169; 1 RA 140, 171-198). (Typed opn., p. 20.)

2. May 24, 2000 to June 16, 2000

At the May 24, 2000 hearing on defendants' demurrers and motions to strike the First Amended Complaint, the court set deadlines for amending

and responding to the complaint, ordered the parties to submit a proposed Case Management Order ("CMO"), and entered a discovery stay pending entry of the CMO. (Typed opn., p. 12; 1 RA 230-231.)

Between May 24, 2000 and June 16, 2000, the following activities took place: counsel for plaintiff and defendants negotiated the terms of a joint evaluation conference statement and proposed case management order (1 RA 235-239, 243, 245-246, 248-253, 255, 257-258, 260); plaintiff filed a second amended complaint omitting the TCPA cause of action but adding a cause of action for negligence based on the transmission of unsolicited fax advertisements (3 AA 725-738; 1 RA 241); the parties filed the joint evaluation conference statement (1 RA 262); and certain defendants filed or joined in demurrers to plaintiff's second amended complaint and a motion to strike portions of that complaint (1 RA 264, 266-268, 270, 272, 274, 276, 278).

On June 16, 2000, the court held the joint evaluation conference, filed the case management order, and lifted the discovery stay. (Typed opn., pp. 4, 12, 19.) The case management order stated: "On May 24, 2000, this Court stayed discovery pending entry of a Case Management Order. The stay on discovery is hereby lifted." (Typed opn., pp. 4, 12.)

3. December 3, 2003 to January 15, 2004

On December 3, 2003, the trial court held a hearing at which certain defendants advised the court that they had submitted a petition for

coordination of various TCPA cases involving defendant Fax.com. (Typed opn., pp. 4, 13.) The court therefore set a further review hearing for January 15, 2004, and it ordered discovery stayed until that time. (Typed opn., p. 13.)

The court did not stay any other litigation activity. (*Ibid.*) Thus, during this period, certain defendants filed an answer to plaintiff's Fourth Amended Complaint (2 RA 368); plaintiff filed related proofs of service of summons (2 RA 428-444); plaintiff filed multiple motions to compel supplemental responses to special interrogatories, form interrogatories, and document requests (2 RA 370-372, 374-376, 378-379, 381-382, 384-386, 388-390, 392-394, 398-400, 402-403, 405-407, 409-411, 413-414, 416-418); plaintiff filed her Review Conference Statement (2 RA 424); and plaintiff filed her opposition to defendant Fax.com's petition for coordination (2 AA 347-357).

4. May 6, 2004 to August 2, 2004

On May 6, 2004, the court assigned a coordination trial judge.

(Typed opn., pp. 5, 21.) The order of assignment stated that "[i]mmediately upon assignment, the coordination trial judge may exercise all the powers over each coordinated action of a judge of the court in which that action is pending." (Typed opn., p. 5.)

Despite that plaintiff called the court during this span of nearly three months, plaintiff did not attempt to take any other action, or advance her

case in any other way. During this period, plaintiff was free to undertake other litigation activity to advance her case, such as serving discovery or deposition notices, or working on her motion for class certification.

5. August 2, 2004 to July 11, 2006¹

On April 7, 2004, the trial court granted the petition for coordination, and assigned a coordination trial judge on May 6, 2004.

(Typed opn., pp. 4-5.) On August 2, 2004, the court set an initial status conference in the coordinated actions for August 17, 2004. (Typed opn., p. 13.) The court ordered that discovery "will generally be conducted under court supervision and by court order." (2 RA 459.) The court also ordered that "[t]o facilitate the orderly conduct of this action, all discovery, motion and pleading activity is temporarily stayed pending further order of this court." (Typed opn., p. 13.)

On August 17, 2004, the court held an initial status conference.

(*Ibid.*) The court set various dates and ordered that the stay it entered on August 2 was "lifted for the sole purpose of serving any unserved parties."

(*Ibid.*) The court thereafter scheduled a November 9, 2004 discovery conference (ordering the parties to meet and confer regarding all outstanding discovery matters) (2 RA 488), and, at the conference, set a

¹ Tolling is not disputed for the 15 days between August 2, 2004 and August 17, 2004, during which time a stay was in place, as discussed in this section. (2 RA 458.)

December 7, 2004 hearing on plaintiff's discovery motions and ordered Fax.com to produce database information by November 30, 2004. (2 RA 533-535.)

On December 28, 2004, the court gave notice that Judge Carolyn B. Kuhl would be presiding over the coordinated cases effective January 3, 2005. (Typed opn., p. 5; 2 RA 555, 557.)

The status conference and discovery hearing was ultimately held on March 3, 2005, at which time the trial court granted plaintiff's discovery motions and made various orders regarding discovery. (1 RA 81-85; 3 RA 577-579.) Five days later, the court ordered the parties to file proposed discovery plans by April 12, 2005. (2 AA 405-407.) On April 20, 2005, the court ordered a discovery plan, requiring defendants to respond to numerous interrogatories and document requests. (2 AA 413-416; 1 RA 88-108.) The discovery plan allowed plaintiffs to take defendants' depositions and required plaintiffs to propose schedules for the depositions they intended to take. (2 AA 414-415.) A discovery cut-off was set for September 15, 2005. (2 AA 415.) On May 18, 2005, the court approved a deposition schedule for the defendant advertisers. (3 RA 668-677.) The court ordered the parties to meet and confer regarding the scheduling of these depositions. (3 RA 671.) At an August 26, 2005 status conference, the court extended the discovery cut-off to November 1, 2005. (3 RA 769,

786-788.) The court later extended the discovery cut-off until February 1, 2006. (3 RA 827; 3 Reporter's Transcript ("RT") H-34 to 36.)

Substantial litigation activity during this time: E-Commerce Exchange's ("ECX") and CSB Partnership's defaults were filed and adjudicated between September and November 2004 (2 RA 502-504, 506-508, 515-516, 520-523; 3 AA 666-667); several motions to compel were decided in plaintiff's favor in March 2005 (1 RA 81-85; 3 RA 577); the court ordered documents into the depository March 2005 (3 RA 578); the court ordered a discovery plan, allowing plaintiff to take defendants' depositions in April 2005 (2 AA 414-415); plaintiff served notices of deposition in August 2005 (3 RA 738-739); plaintiff moved for sanctions against defendants in December 2005 (4 RA 897-902, 904-909, 911-918, 920-927); plaintiff filed a Fifth Amended Complaint in February 2006 (4) RA 1069-1070); and plaintiff further amended her complaint to replace six fictitiously-named defendants in June 2006 (2 AA 530-532; 5 RA 1276). (See the Bruns Dissent (pp. 1-11) for an in depth discussion of the litigation activity that occurred during this period of time.)

At a July 11, 2006 hearing, the court ruled that it would stop its active involvement in managing discovery in this action and "just open discovery at this point" (Typed opn., pp. 5, 14.)

C. Trial Court's Dismissal of Plaintiff's Case

Defendants filed motions to dismiss pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 583.310 on November 22, 2006. (Typed opn., pp. 5-6.) The trial court held a hearing on January 25, 2007. (3 RT Q-1 to 40.) After lengthy argument from counsel, the court requested supplemental briefing regarding the specific litigation activity that took place during each of the periods that plaintiff claimed the five-year statute was tolled. (3 RT Q-29 to 32; Q-34 to 35.)

The parties filed supplemental briefs on February 7, 2007. (3 AA 814-819; 4 AA 820-935; see also 1 RA 124-205; 5 RA 1304-1401.) The supplemental submissions to the court included ECX's "Notice of Lodgment," which contained over 1,000 pages of documents, and almost 300 exhibits. (1 RA 206 through 5 RA 1303.) Over three months later on May 14, 2007, the court entered a 26-page order granting the motion to dismiss. (4 AA 936-965.) That order contains a detailed analysis of the litigation activity during each period of time for which plaintiff alleged the five-year statute had been tolled. (*Ibid.*)

D. Proceedings Before the Court of Appeal

Plaintiff appealed from the judgment of dismissal entered in favor of defendants. (Typed opn., p 7.) On March 23, 2009, the trial court's judgment was reversed and remanded by the Second Appellate District, Division Five, in a 2-1 opinion. (Typed opn., pp. 24-25.) The Court of

Appeal held that a "partial stay of an action constitutes a stay of the prosecution of the action" within the meaning of Code of Civil Procedure section 583.340(b). (Typed opn., p. 2.) Therefore, the court held that any stay, including periods where the court directed what discovery would take place and stayed other unpermitted discovery, should not be included in the calculation of the five years. (Typed opn., pp. 10-12.)

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