Supreme Court Copy Subreme Contino

Civil No. S172684

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

DANA BRUNS, Plaintiff and Appellant

JUN 1 - 2999

SUPREME COURT

VS.

Frederick K. Ohirish Clerk

E-COMMERCE EXCHANGE, INC., et al., Defendants and Respondents

Deputy

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR REVIEW

From an Order of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. B201952

> Reversing the Judgment of the Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. JCCP 4350 Honorable Carolyn B. Kuhl

DUANE MORRIS LLP
Max H. Stern (SBN 154424)
Jessica E. La Londe (SBN 235744)
One Market, Spear Tower, Suite 2000
San Francisco, CA 94105-1104
Telephone: 415.957.3000

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

B. This Case Is Not An Anomaly, as These Issues Will Recur, and Will Have a Severely Detrimental Impact on the Way Courts Manage Their Cases

It is misleading for plaintiff to characterize the issues in this case as "unique." Several California counties have developed complex departments, and special rules and procedures have been created to address the many hundreds of complex and coordinated cases that are filed in California courts every year. Most of these complex or coordinated cases will be affected by the Court of Appeal's decision. Every trial judge overseeing a complex or coordinated case will have to make the choice between actively managing their cases through stays, which foregoes the pressure to keep cases moving forward that the five-year statute provides, or keeping the five-year statute intact, which foregoes one of the best tools for actively managing cases (stays).

Counsel for the petitioners have been and are involved in many complex and/or coordinated cases (including in the complex departments of Los Angeles, San Francisco, and Santa Clara counties). In each of those cases, the trial judge has entered partial stays, phased discovery, and otherwise actively managed the cases in an effort to prevent a litigation free-for-all. If the courts had been forced to forgo these meaningful tools in order to preserve the five-year statute, it would have been to the severe detriment of these cases.

The Judicial Council of California's guidelines for judges overseeing complex litigation notes that "[a]ctive judicial involvement in discovery is particularly important in complex litigation," and endorses the use of stays and staging of discovery (which necessarily, but sometimes implicitly, involves staying some discovery):

The better course is to impose a brief stay with the notice of the initial case management conference and until further order of the Court. The discovery schedule, decisions on the staging of discovery, and other discovery issues should then be included in the case management order that is served at the close of the case management conference. . . . All of this can be on various tracks according to the overall need for the staging of discovery. For example, in some cases where it is appropriate for certain issues to precede other issues, such as questions of statute of limitations, jurisdiction, or standing, discovery should be staged so that these issues can be determined before other discovery proceeds.

(See §8B.4 of the 2008 Update to the Judicial Council of California's "California Judges Benchbook: Civil Proceedings," citing the Deskbook on

the Management of Complex Civil Litigation, prepared in 1999 by the Judicial Council's Complex Civil Litigation Task Force.)

This resource notes concern that "discovery can become unfocused and out of control" and "discovery abuse can be a major problem in complex cases." (*Id.*) Through the above tools (e.g., stays and staging of discovery) "discovery can proceed quickly but not haphazardly." (*Id.*)

Entering partials stays and managing discovery are regularly used tools, and are indeed endorsed by the Judicial Council and the California Court Rules, as discussed in the Petition for Review. The Court of Appeal's decision has widespread repercussions because it will affect the way in which trial judges in complex and coordinated cases manage their cases. Trial judges can no longer actively manage their cases without in effect giving up the important public policy served by the five-year statute. This is not a choice a trial judge should have to make.

While plaintiff claims this dilemma is fictitious, it has become manifest in actual practice. On the one hand, counsel for petitioners have learned that at least one trial judge in a California complex department is foregoing the important tool of partial stays in order to keep the five-year rule intact. On the other hand, counsel for petitioners has seen other judges in complex matters continue the partial stay orders they have always used to manage cases – effectively negating the five-year rule for all cases in their departments. Neither result serves the parties, the trial judges, or the

California judicial system, and this dilemma is not what was intended by either the five-year rule or rules regarding management of complex and coordinated cases.

C. The Court of Appeal's Decision Has Important Implications for Other Statutes

In addition to the mandatory dismissal rules governed by section 583.310 *et seq.*, a trial judge also has the discretion to dismiss a lawsuit for delay in prosecution if the action has not been brought to trial or conditionally settled within two years after the action was commenced against the defendant. (*See* Code Civ. Pro. §§ 583.410, 583.420(a)(2)(B); Cal. Rules of Court 3.1340.) The calculation of the two years is subject to the same tolling available under section 583.340. (Code Civ. Pro. § 583.420(b).)

The Court of Appeal decision therefore also seems to apply to the discretionary dismissal statute, and likewise will severely hamper a trial court's ability to exercise its discretion in dismissing a case for a plaintiff's delay in prosecution. If the Court of Appeal decision stands, it seems to result in the automatic exclusion of any period where any limited stay was in effect, no matter how egregious plaintiff's delay. This result completely distorts the discretionary nature of this statute, and seems to strip away a trial court's ability in a managed action to decide, in the exercise of its discretion, that a plaintiff has failed to diligently prosecute her case.

Other statutes have similar tolling provisions. (See, e.g., Code Civ. Pro. § 583.240.) The use of discovery stays to manage litigation should not automatically give plaintiffs a free pass under these statutes.

III. PLAINTIFF IS INCORRECT ON THE MERITS

A. Active Case Management Should Not Toll the Five Years to Bring a Case to Trial

As Justice Turner noted in his well-reasoned and lengthy dissent, "Judge Kuhl did not stay or enjoin the action; she managed it." (Dissent, p. 9.) Such management, pursuant to "well established case management practices," should not constitute a stay that tolls the five-year statute. (*Id.* p. 1.)

The five-year rule and the rules and guidelines providing for active case management in cases, especially in complex and/or coordinated cases, are not mutually exclusive. For example: "[W]e conclude the Judicial Council rules governing the coordination of civil actions do not conflict with the statutory five-year rule for bringing civil actions to trial; hence, the statutory rule applies to each of the coordinated actions." (Bank of America v. Superior Court (1988) 200 Cal.App.3d 1000, 1010.) By arguing that application of the coordination and complex rules and guidelines through entering partial stays tolls the five-year statute, the Court of Appeal's decision and plaintiff's argument necessarily makes the five-year statute

inapplicable to coordinated and complex cases – in direct contravention with *Bank of America*'s holding.

These principles – active case management and the resolution of cases within five-years – should work in harmony with one another, and such a result is a logical one. Each seeks to ensure the efficient and cost-effective resolution of cases. Each seeks to ensure that litigants are given the incentive and means to meaningfully advance the case. It is completely incongruous for the Court of Appeal to hold, and plaintiff to argue, that a trial court's exercise of its management duties by permitting appropriate discovery while staying other discovery is to the detriment of the public policy sought to be enforced through the five-year rule.

Plaintiff, moreover, has mischaracterized the arguments set forth in the Petition for Review. The petition advocates a bright-line rule that only complete stays should toll the five-year statute. Such a rule is the best way to serve the policies of both the five-year statute and active management of cases.

Plaintiff suggests that petitioners' argument is at odds with *Ocean Services Corp. v. Ventura Port District* (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 1762, which states that section 583.340 is "unconditional." Petitioners do not disagree with this premise to the extent it is applied in the same situation as existed in the *Ocean Services* case – i.e., in cases involving *complete* stays of trial court activity. *Ocean Services* involved a complete stay of the trial court

action pending an appeal from a preliminary injunction in a related matter.

Ocean Services' proclamation that the statute is "unconditional" was therefore made in the context of a complete stay, where a bright-line rule makes sense. It is the Court of Appeal decision in Bruns that departs from Ocean Services.

The petition only argues, in the alternative, that if a bright line rule limiting 583.340(b) to complete stays is not created, and if partial stays can trigger tolling under that provision, a superior approach to the new rule of law created by the Court of Appeal would be to find that such a determination should be reviewed for an abuse of the trial court's discretion. It defeats the purpose of the five-year rule to hold that any time a partial stay is entered – no matter how limited – the five-year statute is tolled. (See Code Civ. Pro. §583.360(b) (stating that the five-year period is "mandatory" and is "not subject to extension, excuse, or exception except as expressly provided by statute." (emphasis added).) The Court of Appeal's new rule of law leads to preposterous results. For instance, a trial court could stay the production of a single document pending the outcome of a motion for a protective order, and such a procedure would then toll the running of the five-year statute. If such a situation does not automatically fall outside the reach of section 583.340(b) (because it is not a complete stay), petitioners alternatively argue that the trial court should at least have

the discretion to determine whether that single, limited stay prevented meaningful advancement of the case.

Entering partial stays is a regularly used device of case management in cases, especially complex and/or coordinated cases, and should not toll (or at least not automatically toll) the five-year statute.

B. Only a Complete Stay is a Stay of "Prosecution" Under California Law and Precedent

Plaintiff's argument regarding why a stay of "prosecution" includes partial stays is based on red herrings and a mischaracterization of California case law.

Plaintiff challenges petitioners' reliance on *Marcus v. Superior*Court (1977) 75 Cal.App.3d 204 in the Petition for Review because the

Law Revision Commission comment to section 583.340(b) stated "see,
e.g." prior to citing *Marcus*. The "see, e.g." does not change the fact that

Marcus was the only named case codified by section 583.340(b), and that

Marcus involved a complete stay of trial court activity. More importantly,
plaintiff did not cite to any cases involving a partial stay of activity that the
legislature could have relied on in enacting section 583.340(b) – because
she cannot: there are no such prior cases in California jurisprudence.

Plaintiff's reference to *Bank of America*, *supra*, 200 Cal.App.3d 1000 (decided after enactment of section 583.340(b)) is misleading, as that case does not support plaintiff's argument. The language that plaintiff cites

is in a section regarding whether it was "impossible, impracticable, or futile" for plaintiff to bring its case to trial during the relevant time period under section 583.340(c) – not whether there was a stay of "prosecution" under section 583.340(b). (*Id.* at 1013.) No party in *Bank of America* was claiming that any partial stay tolled the running of the five years to bring a case to trial.

In dicta, *Bank of America* stated that a stay of depositions in a parallel case "can be interpreted as requiring a stay of proceedings." That statement, though, focused on "*proceedings*," not "*prosecution*," and is insufficient to fulfill the requirements of section 583.340(b). (*Cf.* Code Civ. Pro. § 583.240(b), which - unlike section 583.340(b) tolling for the stay of "prosecution" - provides for tolling when there is a stay of "prosecution" or "proceedings", suggesting that the terms have distinct meanings: the deadline for serving parties is tolled when "prosecution of the action or proceedings in the action was stayed and the stay affected service.")

Moreover, even if proceedings and prosecution could be deemed synonymous terms, the court in *Bank of America* stated only that a stay of depositions "can be interpreted" as requiring a stay of proceedings – not that it necessarily would be. Thus, the *Bank of America* court recognized that discretion would have to be exercised to determine whether a partial stay (of depositions) could be considered a stay of proceedings.

Finally, and importantly, *Bank of America* only found tolling during a *complete* stay of trial court activity, not any partial stay.

Plaintiff tries to ground the Court of Appeal's unprecedented decision in the dicta of *Melancon v. Superior Court* (1954) 42 Cal.2d 698 and *Wong v. Earle C. Anthony, Inc.* (1926) 199 Cal. 15, two cases that are 50 years old and 80 years old, respectively, and neither one of which involved an analysis of section 583. *Melancon* involved the application of section 834 of the Corporations Code (regarding posting security) and *Wong* involved the issue of what constitutes malicious prosecution for purposes of venue selection. The quotations from these cases are taken out of context, and the cases do not stand for the proposition asserted; in fact, they support petitioners' position on the correct construction of this provision.

In *Melancon*, the trial court ordered plaintiff to furnish security under former section 834 of the Corporations Code (current section 800). (42 Cal.2d at 701.) The trial court also entered a stay of all activity at the trial court level until 30 days after plaintiff served notice of his compliance with the order for security pursuant to former Corporations Code section 834(c) (current section 800(f)), which provided: "If any such motion [for security] is filed, no pleadings need be filed by the corporation or any other defendant, and the prosecution of such action shall be stayed, until 10 days after such motion shall have been disposed of." (*Id.* at 702.) This Court

described the trial court's order as a stay of "further prosecution of the action until the security was furnished." (Id. at 703.)

Plaintiff sought to take depositions before posting security. (*Id.* at 707.) This Court held that plaintiff could not do so because the taking of depositions "would constitute a step in the 'prosecution' of the action and therefore falls within the stay provisions of section 834." (*Id.*)

In *Wong*, the plaintiff filed a malicious prosecution action in San Joaquin County based on an arrest warrant issued in Sacramento and an arrest in San Joaquin County. (*Wong*, 199 Cal.15 at 16.) The court held that venue in San Joaquin County was proper because "prosecution" (as in "malicious prosecution") "is sufficiently comprehensive to include every step in an action from its commencement to its final determination." (*Id.* at 18.) Therefore, because part of the actions that gave rise to a malicious prosecution claim had occurred in San Joaquin County, venue in San Joaquin County was proper. (*Id.* at 18-19.)

Melancon and Wong therefore both discussed the outer reaches of what activities are encompassed within the concept of "prosecution," whereas here we are concerned with what the minimum requirement is to constitute a stay of "prosecution." In other words, in these cases, this Court did not hold, as plaintiff contends, that a single activity in a case (e.g., discovery) is equal to "prosecution;" rather, it held that a single activity in a case (e.g., discovery) is but one element, or "step," in "prosecution." (See

also Barber v. Lewis & Kaufman, Inc. (1954) 125 Cal.App.2d 95, 98 ("The question herein involved is whether the taking of a deposition is part of the prosecution of the action. In our opinion it is. The courts have held that the taking of a deposition is one of the proceedings of an action.").)

This Court's rationale in *Melancon* and *Wong* in fact supports petitioners' argument. Both of these cases stated that "the term 'prosecution' is sufficiently comprehensive to include *every step in an action* from its commencement to its final determination." (*Melancon*, 42 Cal.2d at 707-708 (emphasis added); *Wong*, 199 Cal.15 at 18 (emphasis added).) Inserting this language into section 583.340(b) demonstrates that the Court of Appeal's and plaintiff's position is untenable:

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